Foundations and Trends<sup>®</sup> in Marketing Vol. 6, No. 1 (2011) 1–61 © 2012 A. Chernev DOI: 10.1561/1700000030



## Product Assortment and Consumer Choice: An Interdisciplinary Review

By Alexander Chernev

### Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Perceptions of Assortment Variety	4
2.1	Assortment Size and Perceived Assortment Variety	4
2.2	Assortment Structure and Perceived Assortment Variety	5
3	Choosing from an Assortment	10
3.1	Purchase Likelihood	10
3.2	Purchase Quantity	22
3.3	Option Choice	24
4 Choosing Among Assortments		29
4.1	The Impact of Assortment Size on Choice	
	among Assortments	29
4.2	The Impact of Assortment Structure	
	on Choice among Assortments	33
4.3	The Impact of Purchase-Quantity Goals on Choice	
	among Assortments	35

5 ]	Developing an Agenda for Further Research	37
6 ]	Product Assortment and Consumer Choice: A Managerial Perspective	42
$6.1 \\ 6.2$	Strategies for Optimizing the Assortment Strategies for Optimizing the Consumer Decision-Making	42
	Process	45
7 (	Conclusion	48
Ref	erences	49

Foundations and Trends<sup>®</sup> in Marketing Vol. 6, No. 1 (2011) 1–61 © 2012 A. Chernev DOI: 10.1561/170000030



## Product Assortment and Consumer Choice: An Interdisciplinary Review

### Alexander Chernev

Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University, 2001 Sheridan Road, Evanston, IL 60208, USA, ach@northwestern.edu

#### Abstract

The topic of product assortment has generated a plethora of research across various domains, including economics, analytical and empirical modeling, individual and group decision making, and social psychology. Despite the voluminous assortment research, however, the key findings have remained scattered across domains. In fact, the very domain of assortment research has not been clearly defined, thus complicating the understanding of the current state of assortment research. The goal of this review, therefore, is to define the field of assortment research and outline its key findings. In this context, this review delineates three key domains of assortment research: (1) how consumers perceive the variety of items in an assortment, (2) how consumers choose an item from a given assortment, and (3) how consumers choose among assortments. The key findings in each of these three areas are synthesized in the form of specific research propositions that build on the existing findings and provide guidance for further empirical investigation. By outlining the key findings in each of these three areas, this review offers an integrative framework for understanding the impact of assortment on consumer choice.

# 1 Introduction

The importance of assortment decisions for both retailers and manufacturers has been underscored by numerous research articles, marketing textbooks, and the popular press (Kahn, 1999; Kay and Jost, 2003; Lerner, 1980; Levy and Weitz, 2006; Iyengar, 2010; Schwartz, 2003). Common assortment decisions involve issues such as assortment size, reflecting both the breadth (i.e., number of categories) and the depth (i.e., number of items within a category) of the available product lines; the type of items (e.g., overall attractiveness); the relational properties of the items (e.g., item similarity); pricing policies; and the variety of items over time.

Because of its importance, the topic of product assortment has generated a substantial amount of interest across different research domains, including economics, analytical and empirical modeling, individual and group decision making, and social psychology (Broniarczyk, 2008; Kahn, 1999; Lancaster, 1990; Simonson, 1999). This research has contributed to significant advancement in understanding the impact of assortment on consumer choice. Yet, most prior research has focused on specific problems without necessarily integrating the findings with the existing research across different domains. The goal of this review, therefore, is to discuss existing literature and, building on the current theoretical developments across different research domains, develop a set of research propositions delineating the impact of product assortment on consumer choice.

This review takes a consumer's perspective to examine how product assortment influences decision making and choice. In particular, it defines the consumer aspect of assortment research to answer three key questions: (1) How do consumers perceive the variety of items in an assortment? (2) How do consumers choose an item from a given assortment? and (3) How do consumers choose among assortments? Accordingly, this review is comprised of three main sections.

The first part examines factors that influence consumer perceptions of the variety of an assortment. In particular, it investigates how factors such as assortment size, the degree of distinctiveness of assortment options, the dispersion of option frequencies (entropy), and the organization of the assortment influence consumer perceptions of assortment variety. The second part discusses factors that influence consumer choice of an item from a given assortment. It examines the impact of assortment size on the purchase likelihood from a given assortment, the number of options purchased, and the particular options chosen from the assortment. The third part examines factors that influence consumer choice among assortments. In particular, it investigates how assortment size, assortment structure, and purchase quantity influence consumers' choice of an assortment.

Conceptual analysis of the existing research in each of these three areas is summarized in a series of research propositions that integrate current findings and offer directions for future research. We conclude with a discussion of the theoretical contributions and managerial implications of existing product assortment research and identify venues for further investigation.

## 2

## **Perceptions of Assortment Variety**

Consumers' choice of an item from an assortment, as well as consumer choice among assortments, is often determined by the perceptions of the variety of items comprising these assortments. In particular, perceived assortment variety can be viewed as a function of two key factors: assortment size and assortment structure. These two factors are discussed in more detail below.

#### 2.1 Assortment Size and Perceived Assortment Variety

The basic notion that perceived variety is a function of *assortment size* is fairly straightforward: Larger assortments tend to be perceived as having greater variety. The research in this area has focused on identifying factors that moderate the impact of assortment size on choice. Research by Broniarczyk et al. (1998) documents that perceptions of variety in a given assortment are influenced by three key factors: the number of distinct items (SKUs) comprising the assortment, the assortment's attractiveness (e.g., the availability of buyers' favorite brands), and the total shelf space allocated to the assortment. In particular, they show that removing a more preferred item has a greater likelihood of

lowering an assortment's perceived variety than removing a less preferred item. They further report that a decrease in the shelf space allocated to a category tends to lower this category's perceived variety. Thus, when a product category is given more shelf space in a retail store, even when the number of distinct items (SKUs) is constant, consumers perceive greater variety than when the same category is assigned to a smaller space. Finally, their findings document that reducing the number of distinct items (SKUs) will have an impact on consumer choice of a retailer only if this influences the perceived variety of the assortments carried by these retailers. Similar findings reported by Van Herpen and Pieters (2002) show that doubling the size of an assortment with replicates can increase perceived variety by as much as 42%.

#### 2.2 Assortment Structure and Perceived Assortment Variety

In addition to assortment size, perceived variety is a function of *assortment structure*, that is, the organization of the items within a given assortment. Three key aspects of assortment structure can be identified: (1) the degree of distinctiveness of the options, (2) the entropy of the options comprising the assortment, and (3) the organization of the assortment (Hoch et al., 1999; Kahn and Wansink, 2004). These three aspects are discussed in more detail below.

The degree of option distinctiveness refers to the attribute-level differences between individual items. Existing research has shown that perceived variety of an assortment is a function of the magnitude of the differences between its options, such that perceived variety is smaller in assortments comprising similar rather than dissimilar options (Hoch et al., 1999; Van Herpen and Pieters, 2002, 2007; van Ryzin and Mahajan, 1999). It has further been documented that the impact of option distinctiveness on perceived variety is independent of the number of items comprising an assortment. Thus, the distinctiveness of options' attribute values only moderately correlates with assortment size with respect to its impact on perceived assortment variety and can be used as an independent predictor of assortment variety (Van Herpen and Pieters, 2002).

#### 6 Perceptions of Assortment Variety

Two approaches to conceptualizing option distinctiveness have been advanced in the literature. The product-based approach focuses on the dissimilarity of the options across all attributes (Hoch et al., 1999, 2002). In contrast, the attribute-based approach focuses on the similarity of the attribute levels across alternatives, as well as on the relationship between different attributes (Van Herpen and Pieters, 2002). These two approaches can be related to conceptualizing the degree of option distinctiveness in terms of integral or separable attributes (Garner, 1974). Here, integral attributes represent dimensions that are difficult to consider separately; as a result, the evaluation of an option's performance on each attribute is a function of performance on the other integral attribute (e.g., the evaluation of the brightness of a color is influenced by its saturation). In contrast, separable attributes are defined as dimensions that can be evaluated independently from each other (e.g., the evaluation of the brightness of a color is not influenced by its shape). In this context, it has been argued that options described on separable attributes are likely to be perceived as more distinct and, hence, lead to a greater perception of assortment variety (Hoch et al., 1999).

The *entropy* of an assortment is a metric of the dispersion of its items, which incorporates both the number of different items and their relative frequencies into a single measure of variability (Kullback, 1959; Young and Wasserman, 2001). When describing the variety of an assortment, the term entropy has been used in two similar contexts: (1) as a measure of the dispersion of attribute levels within an attribute (Van Herpen and Pieters, 2002) and (2) as a measure of the dispersion of the frequency with which each option appears in a given assortment (Kahn and Wansink, 2004; Shannon and Weaver, 1949). Thus, entropy is highest when all attribute levels occur in equal proportions (in the case of attribute-based entropy) or when all options occur with equal frequency (in the case of option-based entropy). In general, attributes/options with lower entropy (e.g., unique features/options) are considered more diagnostic (informative) relative to attributes/options with higher entropy (e.g., shared values of a given attribute or common options in an assortment).

Recent research has shown that the entropy of the options in an assortment can have a significant impact on the perception of variety. In particular, it has been documented that high dispersion in the attribute values across options (high-attribute entropy) leads to increased perception of assortment variety (Van Herpen and Pieters, 2002). In the same vein, it has been shown that a higher number of distinct options (high-option entropy) leads to increased perception of assortment variety (Hoch et al., 1999; Young and Wasserman, 2001).

Perceived variety has also been shown to be a function of the *organization of the assortment*. Thus, it has been documented that for large assortments, disorganized sets are likely to be perceived as offering less variety than organized sets — an effect attributed to the lack of structure, which makes it more difficult for consumers to recognize the existing variety. In contrast, for small assortments, disorganized sets are likely to be perceived as offering greater variety because they can obscure the fact that the available assortment is fairly small (Kahn and Wansink, 2004).

Organized displays also have been reported to be more likely to lead to perceptions of greater variety in the context of analytic information processing, whereas in the context of holistic processing this effect is reversed, such that disorganized displays are perceived to offer greater variety (Hoch et al., 1999). Perceived variety has further been documented to be a function of the proximity of the items comprising an assortment. In particular, options in close proximity (e.g., adjacent options) have been reported as having greater impact on assortment variety than distant options (Hoch et al., 1999).

Perceived variety of an assortment has also been reported to be a function of consumers' familiarity with the product category and the consistency of consumers' internal category schema with the category structure of the product display. In particular, for consumers familiar with the product category, congruency between the internal schema and the external layout was found to lead to greater perceptions of variety (Morales et al., 2005; see also Mogilner et al., 2008). It has further been shown that experienced consumers are also able to detect subtle, but rich, distinctions within an assortment, further increasing their perceptions of variety (Redden, 2008).

#### 8 Perceptions of Assortment Variety

The discussion of the impact of assortment size and structure on perceived variety can be summarized in the following propositions:

- P<sub>1.1</sub>: Perceived variety is a function of the *distinctiveness* of the options comprising an assortment. In particular, assortments comprising more distinct options are perceived to have greater variety than assortments comprising options that are more similar.
- P<sub>1.2</sub>: Perceived variety is a function of the *entropy* of the options comprising an assortment. In particular, high dispersion in the attribute values across options (high-attribute entropy), as well as a higher number of distinct options (high-option entropy), leads to increased perceptions of assortment variety.
- $P_{1.3}$ : The *proximity* of items is likely to influence the perceived variety of an assortment. In particular, options in close proximity (e.g., adjacent options) have greater impact on assortment variety than distant options.
- $P_{1.4}$ : Perceived variety is a function of *assortment size*, such that increasing assortment size by adding either distinct items or replicates will increase perceived variety. The marginal impact of increasing assortment size on perceived variety will be greater when the added items are distinct than when they are replicates and will diminish with an increase in the number of distinct options comprising the assortment.
- $P_{1.5}$ : The impact of assortment size on the perceived variety is a function of the *organization* of the options in the assortment. In particular, for small assortments, low organization is likely to lead to a perception of higher variety, whereas for large assortments, low organization is likely to lead to a perception of lower variety.
- $P_{1.6}$ : The impact of organization on an assortment's perceived variety is a function of the nature of consumer decision strategy. In particular, consumers processing the information in

analytic fashion are likely to perceive organized assortments as offering greater variety than nonorganized assortments. In contrast, consumers processing the information in holistic fashion are likely to perceive nonorganized assortments as offering greater variety than organized assortments.

 $P_{1.7}$ : The impact of organization on an assortment's perceived variety is a function of the nature of consumer *expertise*. In particular, congruency between the internal schema and the organization of the assortment was found to lead to greater perceptions of variety.

## 3

### **Choosing from an Assortment**

When making a choice from an assortment, consumers typically face three decisions: (1) whether to make a purchase from the available assortment, (2) how many options to purchase, and (3) which particular option(s) to choose. These three aspects of consumer decision — purchase likelihood, purchase quantity, and option choice — are discussed in more detail below.

#### 3.1 Purchase Likelihood

The likelihood of purchasing any item from the available assortment has been shown to be a function of two key sets of factors: the size of the assortment and the relationships between the options in the assortment. These two factors are examined in more detail in the following sections.

#### 3.1.1 The Impact of Assortment Size on Purchase Likelihood

Prior research has identified a number of benefits and costs associated with large assortments. The most intuitive benefit, featured prominently in economics research, is that the greater the number of options

#### 3.1 Purchase Likelihood 11

in the choice set, the higher the likelihood that consumers can find an option matching their purchase goals (Baumol and Ide, 1956; Betancourt and Gautschi, 1990; Hotelling, 1929; Kahn and Lehmann, 1991; Kahneman et al., 1997; see Lancaster, 1990 for a review). A related economic explanation of consumer preferences for larger assortments involves the greater efficiency of time and effort involved in identifying the available alternatives in the case of one-stop shopping associated with retailers offering larger assortments (Betancourt and Gautschi, 1990; Messinger and Narasimhan, 1997; Miller et al., 1999).

It has also been proposed that larger assortments might lead to stronger preferences because they offer option value (Reibstein et al., 1975) and allow consumers to maintain flexibility in light of uncertainty about future tastes (Kahn and Lehmann, 1991; Kreps, 1979; Kahneman and Snell, 1992; March, 1978; Shin and Ariely, 2004; Walsh, 1995) and accommodate their future variety-seeking behavior (McAlister, 1982; Pessemier, 1978; Ratner et al., 1999; Simonson, 1990; Read and Loewenstein, 1995; Inman, 2001; Levav and Rui (Juliet) Zhu, 2009; Van Herpen and Pieters, 2002, 2007; van Trijp et al., 1996).

It has further been argued that consumers might experience additional utility simply from having multiple items in the choice set (Kahn et al., 1987; see also Broniarczyk et al., 1998; Oppewal and Koelemeijer, 2005), a proposition consistent with the view that larger assortments might influence preferences by creating a perception of freedom of choice (Brehm, 1972) and perceived personal control (Inesi et al., 2011). Larger assortments may also enhance the enjoyment of shopping (Babin et al., 1994) and the overall choice satisfaction (Botti and Iyengar, 2004), as well as provide buyers with a greater opportunity to learn about the range of available products (Bellenger and Korgaonkar, 1980).

Finally, it has been proposed that larger assortments influence consumer preferences by reducing the uncertainty of whether the choice set at hand adequately represents all potentially available options. Recent experiments show that consumers may delay their purchasing because they are uncertain about the degree to which the available set is representative of the entire set of possible options (Greenleaf and Lehmann, 1995; Karni and Schwartz, 1977). To illustrate, consumers might feel

#### 12 Choosing from an Assortment

more confident when selecting from a retailer that offers a larger assortment because it is less likely that a potentially superior alternative is not represented in the available choice set.

Despite their multiple benefits, larger assortments have been identified as having a number of important drawbacks. From a retailer's standpoint, larger assortments are often considered less desirable for cost-related reasons, such as inventory, shelf space, and financing costs (Bayus and Putsis Jr., 1999; Kurt Salmon Associates, 1993; Lancaster, 1990; Lehmann, 1998; Moorthy, 1984; The Partnering Group, 1998).

From a consumer's standpoint, it has been proposed that the benefits of greater variety are, at least partially, offset by a corresponding increase in consumers' costs associated with choosing from a larger assortment. Recent research has shown that reducing the size of an assortment can actually increase the purchase likelihood from that assortment. To illustrate, Broniarczyk et al. (1998) have documented that reductions (up to 54%) in the lower selling SKUs often have no significant impact on variety perceptions and sales. Related research has further shown that deleting less popular SKUs can actually increase aggregate sales, whereby a 10% SKU reduction resulted in a 4% sales increase (Dreze et al., 1994). Similar results were reported by Boatwright and Nunes (2001) in a natural experiment in which decreasing the assortment in nearly all product categories offered by a retailer resulted in a significant increase in sales.

One of the first field experiments empirically documenting the drawbacks of larger assortments involved comparing consumer reactions to different assortments of gournet jams (Iyengar and Lepper, 2000). In this context, it was shown that consumers were more likely to make a purchase when being presented with an assortment comprising six items than with an assortment comprising 24 items (30% versus 3%). Similar findings have been documented in a variety of product categories, such as chocolates (Berger et al., 2007; Chernev, 2003b), consumer electronics (Chernev, 2003a), and mutual funds (Iyengar et al., 2004; Huberman et al., 2007; Iyengar, 2010; Morrin et al., 2008).

The negative consequences of larger assortments have been attributed to several factors. It has been argued that making a choice from larger assortments requires greater cognitive effort than choosing

#### 3.1 Purchase Likelihood 13

from smaller assortments simply because it involves evaluating a greater number of options, attribute dimensions, and attribute levels (Iyengar and Lepper, 2000; Haynes, 2009; Huffman and Kahn, 1998; Jacoby et al., 1974; Lurie, 2004; Scammon, 1977; Shugan, 1980). In addition, for consumers who are uncertain of their preferences, larger assortments have been shown to be more confusing because of the larger number of attributes and/or attribute levels that must be evaluated in order to form a preference and make a choice (Dhar, 1997; Greenleaf and Lehmann, 1995; Huffman and Kahn, 1998; Iyengar and Lepper, 2000; Malhotra, 1982; Schwartz, 2000; Shah and Wolford, 2007; Sood et al., 2004), as well as the increasing number of tradeoffs consumers have to make when comparing the benefits and costs of the different options (Chernev, 2003b).

It has further been argued that larger assortments tend to raise consumer expectations, shifting their ideal points and making them more difficult to attain (Schwartz et al., 2002). Larger assortments have also been found to raise consumers' expectations of the likelihood of finding their ideal option in the available assortment and the degree of preference match they can achieve (Diehl and Poynor, 2010; Kuksov and Villas-Boas, 2010). As a result, choices from larger assortments are likely to lead to disconfirmation of consumer expectations, resulting in greater choice deferral and lower choice satisfaction.

Recent research also has shown that adding new options to an assortment will have an asymmetric impact on the probability of choosing an option from that assortment, such that the benefits of expanding a smaller assortment are likely to outweigh the corresponding benefits of expanding a larger assortment. This argument is based on the notion that the attractiveness of larger assortments is likely to be subject to diminishing returns because the marginal benefits from each additional alternative tend to decrease with the increase in assortment size (Anderson et al., 1966; Chernev and Hamilton, 2009; Oppewal and Koelemeijer, 2005). Given that the increase in benefits happens at a decreasing rate, at some point it is likely to be offset by the additional costs of evaluating the available alternatives (Roberts and Lattin, 1991). Thus, it has been shown that the probability of purchasing a brand, reflected in the brand's market share, tends to decrease after the

#### 14 Choosing from an Assortment

assortment of items comprising its product line achieves a certain size (Draganska and Jain, 2005). In the same vein, it has been argued that, following the high extent of product proliferation in the last several decades, the depth of assortment (number of SKUs) in many staple categories has reached saturation levels (Dreze et al., 1994).

Because increasing the number of options in a choice set can have both a beneficial and detrimental impact on choice, it is difficult to make an overall prediction on how assortment size will influence consumer preferences. One of the key factors moderating the impact of assortment size on consumer preferences is the degree to which consumers have an available ideal point (Chernev, 2003b). It is argued that individuals without an available ideal point must first articulate their attribute preferences in order to identify the option with the highest utility derived from these preferences. Because choosing from larger assortments typically involves evaluating a greater number of options, attributes, and attribute levels, the choice process is likely to be more complicated. As a result, for consumers without a readily available ideal point, choices from larger assortments are more likely to lead to choice deferral and weaker preferences for the selected alternative than choices from smaller assortments. In contrast, for consumers with an articulated ideal point, the impact of assortment size is reversed, leading to greater likelihood of choice deferral and weaker preferences for the chosen alternative in the context of a smaller rather than larger assortment. This line of reasoning is based on the notion that unlike consumers without articulated preferences, who are faced with the task of simultaneously forming their ideal point and selecting the option that best matches this point, consumers with articulated preferences are simply trying to identify the option that best matches their ideal point — a task that can be better completed in the context of a larger rather than smaller assortment.

From an information-processing standpoint, it has been documented that when choosing from larger assortments, individuals with an articulated ideal attribute combination are more likely to rely on positive test strategies to identify the alternative that matches their ideal point, whereas individuals without an articulated preference are likely to adopt strategies that involve comparing the available alternatives without the confirmatory goal of matching these alternatives to an existing ideal point. In particular, it has been shown that relative to consumers without an articulated ideal point, those with articulated preferences are (a) more selective in processing the available information; (b) more likely to rely on alternative-based rather than attribute-based processing; and (c) more likely to evaluate the available alternatives in a confirmatory manner, using their ideal attribute combination as a reference point (Chernev, 2003a). In contrast, consumers without articulated preferences are expected to be (a) more comprehensive in evaluating the available alternatives; (b) more likely to rely on attribute-based rather than alternative processing; and (c) more likely to evaluate the available alternatives in a comparative fashion, using the performance of the other options in the assortment as a reference point.

In the same vein, it has been proposed that consumers who are likely to engage in a more comprehensive information search that involves evaluating all available choice alternatives and selecting the best one (referred to as a maximizing strategy; Wright, 1975) are more likely to perceive larger assortments as more complex and associated with more difficult decisions than individuals who engage in a more selective processing and choose the first acceptable alternative (referred to as a satisficing strategy; Simon, 1955; Wright, 1974). Thus, consumer decision strategy (maximizing versus satisficing) has been argued to influence purchase probability of an item from a given assortment, as well as overall satisfaction with choice (Schwartz et al., 2002; Aaker, 2004; Inbar et al., 2011; see also Iyengar and Lepper, 2000; Iyengar et al., 2006).

While most of the existing assortment research has focused on the overall probability of purchase, strength of preference, and satisfaction, relatively little research has investigated the impact of assortment size on the option chosen. In particular, it has been shown that larger assortments are associated with a greater amount of variety-seeking behavior, leading to a greater diversity of the chosen items (Kahn, 1995; Kahn and Lehmann, 1991). It has also been documented that an increase in assortment size is associated with an increase in the choice probability of the easiest-to-justify option (Sela et al., 2009). This effect is

#### 16 Choosing from an Assortment

attributed to the fact that choosing from larger assortments is associated with greater preference uncertainty and decision difficulty, which consequently promotes greater reliance on reasons in choice. Building on the idea that utilitarian options are often easier to justify (Kivetz and Simonson, 2002), it is further proposed that when choosing from larger assortments, consumers are more likely to select utilitarian rather than hedonic options.

#### 3.1.2 The Impact of Assortment Structure on Purchase Likelihood

In addition to assortment size, the probability of purchase from a given assortment is influenced by the organization of the assortment and type of items it includes. In particular, understanding the impact of assortment structure on choice involves examining three key aspects describing the relationships between the options in a given assortment: relative attractiveness of the available options (e.g., the availability of the "ideal" option), attribute complementarity, and pricing. These three characteristics are discussed in more detail below.

Prior research has shown that consumers are more likely to make a purchase from an assortment in cases when it contains their most preferred option than when this option is absent (Chernev, 2006a; Boatwright and Nunes, 2001; Broniarczyk et al., 1998; Oppewal and Koelemeijer, 2005). It has also been shown that an increase in the variability of the options' attractiveness will lead to increased decision certainty, decreased confusion, and higher choice satisfaction (Malhotra, 1982), as well as increased overall purchase probability (Summers, 1974). Thus, adding an inferior option that enhances the dominance of one of the existing options has been shown to increase choice likelihood from an assortment (Dhar, 1997), whereas adding equally attractive options has been reported to have the opposite effect, increasing the likelihood of deferring the decision (Dhar, 1997; Dhar and Simonson, 2003; Tversky and Shafir, 1992). Furthermore, adding an inferior option has been shown to increase the share of the dominant option, a finding commonly referred to as the attraction effect (Huber et al., 1982; Simonson, 1989; Simonson and Tversky, 1992).

#### 3.1 Purchase Likelihood 17

Purchase likelihood is a function of the availability of a default option, such that consumers are more likely to make a choice from a given assortment when they are provided with a default option compared to when they are not. Moreover, the impact of a default option is likely to be more pronounced in cases when the level of decision uncertainty is high — e.g., when consumers without articulated preferences have to make a choice from a relatively large assortment. For example, it has been shown that when the default decision involves participating in a retirement plan and consumers can opt out, participation rates are substantially higher than when the default is nonparticipation and consumers must opt in (Thaler and Benartzi, 2004; see also Johnson and Goldstein, 2003).

The presentation format of assortment options can have a significant impact on consumer judgment and choice. In particular, attributebased presentation of the choice options, in which option information is organized by attribute has been found to decrease perceived decision complexity and increase choice satisfaction (Huffman and Kahn, 1998). Ordering options in a given assortment has also been found to decrease search costs, thus decreasing the difficulty of choosing an item from larger assortments (Diehl et al., 2003; Diehl, 2005). In this context, when choosing from sets ordered by expected quality, consumers are likely to pay lower prices when choosing from larger rather than smaller assortments — an effect attributed to the fact that ordering the choice options by expected quality produces a subset of options that are more similar in overall quality compared to randomly selected items, making consumers less willing to pay a premium for the more attractive option (Diehl et al., 2003).

The purchase likelihood from a given assortment is also a function of feature complementarity, which reflects the marginal utility that one feature adds in the presence of another (Chernev, 2005). Thus, the addition of a complementary feature (e.g., tartar protection in toothpaste) to a product with a similar feature (e.g., cavity prevention) tends to increase its marginal utility and make the overall product more attractive, whereas adding a noncomplementary feature (e.g., mint flavor) to a product with a similar feature (e.g., banana flavor) does not increase its marginal utility and the overall product attractiveness.

#### 18 Choosing from an Assortment

In this context, it has been shown that increasing a product assortment by adding options differentiated by complementary features tends to lower the attractiveness of all alternatives in that assortment. Indeed, adding an option differentiated by a complementary feature highlights an attribute dimension on which the original product is inferior, thus decreasing its overall attractiveness. Consequently, each new complementary feature used to extend the product line ultimately makes the existing products less attractive because they are dominated on the attribute defined by the newly added feature. This decrease in the overall attractiveness of the choice options ultimately leads to a decline in the probability of consumers choosing any option from this assortment.

A conceptually similar argument has been advanced by Gourville and Soman (2005), who propose that the probability of choosing an option from an assortment is a function of the alignability of the attributes describing the options comprising the assortment. The concept of alignability draws on the literature of structural alignment in psychology (Markman and Gentner, 1993) to denote the degree of correspondence between two objects. To illustrate, an assortment of computers in which options are differentiated by the presence or absence of a particular feature (e.g., a Wi-Fi card) is typically described as nonalignable, whereas an assortment in which options are differentiated by the level of performance on these attributes (e.g., the range of the Wi-Fi card) is typically described as alignable. In this context, increasing the size of assortments differentiated by alignable attributes reportedly can lead to an increase in the probability of consumers making a purchase from that assortment, whereas increasing the size of assortments differentiated by nonalignable attributes has been shown to have the opposite effect of decreasing the purchase probability from that assortment (Gourville and Soman, 2005). Further research has linked attribute alignability to satisfaction with choice such that it follows an inverted U-shape for options differentiated on nonalignable but not alignable attributes (Griffin and Broniarczyk, 2010).

Consumer choice is also influenced by the attractiveness of the options comprising an assortment and the nature of the decision task, in particular, whether individuals have to make the choice themselves or leave the choice to others or fate (Botti and McGill, 2006). Thus, when

confronted with attractive options, those making a choice themselves (choosers) entertain more pleasant thoughts and are more satisfied with the outcome than those who do not make the choice themselves (nonchoosers). When presented with undesirable options, however, choosers contemplate more unpleasant thoughts and are less satisfied with the outcome than nonchoosers (Botti and Iyengar, 2004). Related research has also shown that people tend to prefer to have the option to make a choice themselves; however, they end up performing worse and feeling less satisfied than those who did not make the choice (Botti and Hsee, 2010).

Another important factor influencing the purchase probability from an assortment involves pricing its options. Despite its conceptual and managerial importance, very little research has been done in the area of assortment pricing, most of which has focused on the area of price sensitivity (Diehl et al., 2003; Lynch and Ariely, 2000). An important question managers face when designing an assortment is whether to price items in a given product line at parity or to let the pricing vary as a function of other factors such as the actual cost or the anticipated demand for each product. To illustrate, a restaurant could price all the options on its dessert menu identically or, alternatively, it could let the pricing reflect the actual cost of making each dessert. A wine manufacturer could price different wine varietals at parity or let the pricing vary as a function of anticipated consumer demand. In this context, recent research has shown that assortment pricing can have a significant impact on purchase probability from a given assortment and that this impact is a function of the degree of uncertainty associated with performance of the options on nonprice attributes (Chernev, 2006b). Thus, when consumers are uncertain about the relative attractiveness of choice alternatives on nonprice attributes, price-based differentiation reduces this uncertainty by offering price as a diagnostic criterion for making a choice, thus increasing the likelihood of consumers making a choice from this assortment.

In contrast, when consumers have an established preference ordering of choice options on nonprice attributes, the impact of price differentiation on choice is a function of the degree of consistency of consumers' preferences on price and nonprice attributes. Thus, price-differentiated

#### 20 Choosing from an Assortment

assortments in which consumers' preferences on price and nonprice attributes are consistent tend to result in greater choice likelihood than equally priced assortments. In contrast, price-differentiated assortments in which consumers' preferences on price and nonprice attributes are inconsistent tend to result in lower choice likelihood than equally priced assortments.

The discussion of the impact of assortment size and structure on purchase likelihood can be summarized in the following propositions:

- $P_{2.1}$ : The impact of assortment size on the strength of consumer preferences is a function of the marginal benefits associated with the extra options in the larger assortment. In particular, smaller assortments tend to be more preferred when the perceived costs of evaluating the extra options in the larger assortments outweigh the perceived benefits.
- P<sub>2.2</sub>: The impact of assortment size on the strength of consumer preferences and purchase likelihood is a function of preference uncertainty. In particular, when choosing from a larger assortment, consumers with an available ideal point are more likely to have stronger preferences for and make a purchase from that assortment than consumers without an available ideal point. In contrast, when choosing from a smaller assortment, consumers with an available ideal point are more likely to have weaker preferences and be less likely to make a purchase from that assortment than consumers without an available ideal point.
- P<sub>2.3</sub>: The impact of assortment size on consumer decision processes is a function of preference uncertainty. In particular, when choosing from larger assortments, consumers with an articulated ideal point are likely to be (a) more selective in processing the available information; (b) more likely to rely on alternative-based rather than attribute-based processing; and (c) more likely to evaluate the available alternatives in a confirmatory manner, using their ideal attribute combination as a reference point. In contrast, consumers without

an articulated ideal point are expected to be (a) more comprehensive in evaluating the available alternatives; (b) more likely to rely on attribute-based rather than alternativebased processing; and (c) more likely to evaluate the available alternatives in a comparative fashion, using the performance of the other options in the assortment as a reference point.

- P<sub>2.4</sub>: In the absence of an articulated ideal point, consumers choosing from larger assortments are more likely to select the option that is easiest to justify than consumers choosing from smaller assortments.
- $P_{2.5}$ : Consumers are more likely to make a purchase from an assortment in cases when the assortment contains their most preferred option than when this option is absent.
- P<sub>2.6</sub>: The purchase likelihood from a given assortment is a function of the complementarity of its options and assortment size. In particular, choice deferral is greater for assortments comprising complementary rather than noncomplementary options. Furthermore, increasing assortment size by adding noncomplementary options will increase the purchase likelihood from this assortment, whereas increasing assortment size by adding complementary options will decrease the purchase likelihood from that assortment.
- P<sub>2.7</sub>: The purchase likelihood from a given assortment is a function of the alignability of its options and assortment size. In particular, choice deferral is greater for assortments comprising nonalignable rather than alignable options. Furthermore, increasing assortment size by adding alignable options will increase the purchase likelihood from the assortment, whereas increasing assortment size by adding non-alignable options will decrease the purchase likelihood from the assortment.
- $P_{2.8}$ : The purchase likelihood from a given assortment is a function of the attractiveness of its options and whether individuals have to make the choice themselves or leave the choice to others/fate. When confronted with attractive

#### 22 Choosing from an Assortment

options, choosers are more satisfied with the outcome than nonchoosers, whereas when presented with undesirable options, choosers are less satisfied with the outcome than nonchoosers.

P<sub>2.9</sub>: The purchase likelihood from a given assortment is a function of the dispersion of option prices and the uncertainty associated with individuals' consumption preferences. Thus, when preference uncertainty on nonprice attributes is high, differentially priced assortments will lead to higher purchase probability than equally priced assortments. In contrast, when preference uncertainty on nonprice attributes is low, differentially priced assortments will lead to higher purchase probability only in cases when the dispersion of prices is consistent with individuals' preferences, such that the most preferred option also has the best price.

#### 3.2 Purchase Quantity

Most assortment research has focused on scenarios in which the consumer goal is to select a single option. On many occasions, however, consumers purchase multiple items from the same product category during a single shopping trip. To illustrate, it has been reported that multiple units are purchased in 74% of all yogurt shopping trips and in 78% of all soup shopping trips (Walsh, 1995). The importance of investigating consumers' purchase quantity decisions has been underscored by numerous researchers (Gupta, 1988; Harlam and Lodish, 1995; McAlister, 1979; Simonson, 1999; Chandon and Wansink, 2002; Wansink et al., 1998).

From a modeling perspective, a key difference between a single-item and multiple-item purchase is the assumption that in a single-item choice consumers evaluate each item independently, ultimately choosing the one with the highest utility. In particular, it has been argued that when choosing multiple items from an assortment, consumers tend to balance the characteristics of individual items in the consideration set (Farquhar and Rao, 1976; Harlam and Lodish, 1995; Dhar and Simonson, 1999; Lattin, 1987; Lee and Steckel, 1999; McAlister, 1979, 1982). Although the interpretation of what constitutes balance varies among researchers, most agree that it reflects a certain degree of interdependency among the selected options, such that consumer choice is influenced by the items available for purchase and/or purchased during the current shopping trip.

Selecting multiple options can involve scenarios in which all chosen options are expected to be consumed, as well as scenarios in which only a subset of the chosen options will be consumed. In this context, it has been argued that in situations in which sets of items are chosen together, selections are dependent on one another, with consumers balancing the characteristics of the selected items (Farquhar and Rao, 1976; McAlister, 1979).

Recent research has shown that the perceived variety of items in a given assortment can serve as a consumption benchmark that allows consumers to determine the number of items to be purchased and/or consumed, such that a greater variety of items in an assortment increases purchase quantity (Kahn and Wansink, 2004). It has further been shown that larger assortments can also lead to increased consumption (Reibstein et al., 1975). To illustrate, it has been documented that consumers offered three varieties of yogurt are likely to consume on average 23% more yogurt than consumers offered only one flavor (Rolls et al., 1981).

The effect of assortment size on purchase quantity has been further shown to be a function of the organization and the entropy of the assortment. In particular, larger assortments have been associated with greater purchase quantity for organized and asymmetric (low entropy) assortments than for disorganized and symmetric (high entropy) assortments (Kahn and Wansink, 2004). Thus, by varying the organization and entropy of the options in each of the choice sets under consideration, it is possible to influence purchase quantity.

Prior research has also shown that the structure of an assortment, and in particular the diversity of its options, can bias consumers' perception of the overall quantity offered, thus potentially influencing their consumption preferences. Thus, it has been shown that in the case of relatively large and/or complex assortments, choice sets offering less variety are perceived to include more options than same-size

#### 24 Choosing from an Assortment

assortments comprising more diverse options (Redden and Hoch, 2009). In particular, an increase in the variety of the options has been shown to reduce perceived quantity by up to 12%.

The discussion of the factors likely to influence the purchase quantity from an assortment can be summarized in the following propositions:

- P<sub>2.10</sub>: Consumption quantity is a function of assortment size, such that larger assortments will lead to greater purchase quantity.
- P<sub>2.11</sub>: The effect of assortment size on purchase quantity is a function of the organization and the entropy of the assortment. In particular, larger assortments are more likely to lead to greater purchase quantity for choices made from organized and asymmetric (low entropy) assortments relative to choices made from disorganized and symmetric (high entropy) assortments.
- $P_{2.12}$ : The variety of options available in large and/or complex assortments can influence perceived (and potentially consumed) quantity, such that choice sets offering less variety are perceived to include more options than same-size assortments comprising more diverse options.

#### 3.3 Option Choice

In addition to influencing the probability of purchase and purchase quantity, the characteristics of an assortment can influence the specific option(s) chosen. Thus, recent research has argued that because choosing from larger assortments tends to be more difficult, consumers are led to select options that are easier to justify (Sela et al., 2009). In this context, it has been proposed that because virtues and utilitarian necessities are generally easier to justify than indulgences, choosing from larger assortments often shifts choice from vices to virtues and from hedonic to utilitarian options. It has further been documented that when situational factors provide viable reasons to indulge, larger assortments have the opposite effect, increasing the share of vices or hedonic options. In addition, it has been shown that the choice of an option is a function of assortment structure, such that consumers tend to spread their choices among the categories into which the options are partitioned (Fox et al., 2005). For example, a menu partitioned into the categories "fruit," "vegetables," and "cookies and crackers," will yield more healthy choices (i.e., fruits and vegetables) than a menu partitioned into the categories "fruits and vegetables," "cookies," and "crackers." This finding, referred to as "partition dependence," is consistent with the "1/n" rule in which individuals spread their choices evenly across the n available categories (Benartzi and Thaler, 2001).

The impact of assortment type on the choice of particular options can also be observed in the context of multi-item purchases. When buying multiple items to be consumed over time, individuals can adopt one of the two strategies: They might purchase all items during a single shopping trip (e.g., a weekly supply of yogurt) or, alternatively, they might purchase these items on several occasions (e.g., purchase yogurt on a daily basis). These two scenarios raise the question of how the variety of the purchased options will vary as a function of the number of purchase occasions. It has been shown that, compared to items purchased for sequential consumption during a series of shopping trips, items purchased during a single shopping trip tend to yield greater variety seeking, as displayed in the greater variance of the selected options (Simonson, 1990; Simonson and Winer, 1992). To illustrate, when considering snacks for consumption on three separate occasions, consumers who chose snacks in advance were more likely (64% versus 9%) to select different items than consumers who choose snacks sequentially (Simonson, 1990). Similarly, consumers were more likely to choose a greater variety of flavors, as well as to select unusual yogurt flavors, in combined rather than separate purchases (Simonson and Winer, 1992). This finding has been attributed to consumers' uncertainty about future preferences, such that when making purchases for multiple consumption occasions, consumers tend to select a broader variety of items.

The proposition that consumers seek variety when purchasing multiple items in order to hedge against uncertainty is consistent with the findings reported by Harlam and Lodish (1995), who show that across

#### 26 Choosing from an Assortment

purchase occasions consumers tend to buy the same flavor, brand, and package size, whereas within a single purchase occasion they tend to buy different flavors, even though they buy the same brand and package size. This finding has been attributed to the fact that in mature product categories there is little uncertainty about the performance associated with any particular brand, size, or flavor; the key uncertainty with individuals' own future preferences. To hedge against this uncertainty, consumers are likely to prefer assortments with a greater selection of preference-specific attributes, such as diverse flavors. Following this line of reasoning, one could argue that in novel product categories without established brands and with varying product quality, consumers might seek brand variety across, as well as within, purchase occasions.

Consumers' propensity to select a greater variety of items in combined versus separate choices is often referred to as diversification bias. Thus, when choosing multiple goods for future consumption over time, consumers tend to overestimate their preference for variety and end up choosing more diverse options. This overestimation has been attributed to several factors, including diversification, information search, time contraction, and choice bracketing (Read and Loewenstein, 1995). In this context, diversification is related to uncertainty about one's own preferences about products, as well as uncertainty about the products' actual performance. By selecting a variety of options, consumers can mitigate the risk of putting all their eggs in one basket and selecting large quantities of an ultimately undesirable product (Kahn and Lehmann, 1991; Simonson, 1990).

Diversification bias has also been attributed to consumers' information-seeking behavior stemming from the desire to identify more desirable products through trial and error. Diversification bias can also be accounted for by time contraction, in which people tend to underweight the interconsumption interval (Kahneman and Snell, 1992; Gourville, 1998). This is consistent with the general finding of duration neglect, in which the ratings of the overall utility of pleasure and pain are insensitive to the duration of these sequences (Fredrickson and Kahneman, 1993). Finally, diversification bias can be attributed to choice

bracketing, by which simultaneous choices are considered as a portfolio choice and hence are more diversified, whereas sequential choices are considered as individual choices (Ainslie, 1975).

Building on the finding that individuals tend to select a greater variety of items in simultaneous rather than in sequential selections, research by Ariely and Levav (2000) documents that sequential selections in group settings tend to display greater variety than simultaneous selections. They show that consumers are more likely to choose different items when they make choices sequentially than when choices are made simultaneously and are not influenced by the selections made by other group members. To illustrate, when ordering from a restaurant menu, a consumer is less likely to select an item if it has already been chosen by another group member — a strategy that ultimately leads to a greater variety of items when choices are made sequentially rather than simultaneously.

From a conceptual standpoint, it can be argued that the degree to which an individual's behavior is affected by the behavior of the other group members is a function of the group's entitivity (Campbell, 1958), which reflects the tendency of individuals to view their group as an individual entity. Thus, a group with high entitivity is likely to display more variety seeking than a group with low entitivity because in this case individuals are likely to seek to diversify their selections across the entire group. Because similar choices tend to strengthen entitivity, one could further argue that when group members have the motivation to create a high-entitivity group (e.g., the overall performance of the team determines the well-being of its individual members), the opposite pattern of behavior can be observed, such that instead of choosing different options in a sequential choice scenario, individuals might have the desire to underscore the commonality of their preferences by choosing options that are consistent with the options already selected. It could also be argued that when preference uncertainty is high (e.g., choosing among unfamiliar options), selections made by other group members can be construed as reference points, thus influencing other members' behavior in favor of the initially selected option (Tversky and Kahneman, 1991; Wansink et al., 1998).

#### 28 Choosing from an Assortment

The discussion of the factors determining the choice of specific option(s) from an assortment can be summarized in the following propositions:

- $P_{2.13}$ : The choice of an option from a given assortment is a function of assortment size, such that choosing from larger assortments tends to shift choice from vices to virtues and from hedonic to utilitarian options.
- P<sub>2.14</sub>: Simultaneous purchases of multiple items for sequential consumption yield greater variety of the selected options compared to purchases in which the same number of items is purchased over multiple purchase occasions (diversification bias). Consequently, the choice probability of the most preferred option is likely to be greater in scenarios in which items are purchased over multiple occasions than when the same number of items is purchased simultaneously.
- P<sub>2.15</sub>: In group selections, variety-seeking behavior is a function of the group entitivity (cohesiveness). Thus, compared to lowentitivity groups, high-entitivity groups are more likely to display greater variety-seeking behavior in selections made sequentially rather than simultaneously. However, individuals whose goal involves increasing the group's entitivity are more likely to display less variety-seeking behavior in selections made sequentially rather than simultaneously.

## 4

### **Choosing Among Assortments**

In addition to choosing items from available assortments, consumers often have to make choices among assortments, such as choosing among retailers or choosing among product lines offered by different manufacturers. Similar to consumer choice of items from an assortment, consumer choice among assortments can be viewed as a function of assortment size, assortment structure, and purchase quantity. The impact of these three factors on choice among assortments is examined in more detail in the following sections.

## 4.1 The Impact of Assortment Size on Choice among Assortments

The relationship between the number of options contained in an assortment and assortment choice is fairly straightforward: larger assortments are commonly preferred to smaller ones (Bown et al., 2003; Broniarczyk et al., 1998; Hotelling, 1929; Kahn and Lehmann, 1991; Oppewal and Koelemeijer, 2005; Pan and Zinkhan, 2006; Richards and Hamilton, 2006; Wright and Barbour, 1975). It has further been shown

#### 30 Choosing Among Assortments

that the preference for larger assortments tends to increase when consumers expect to have to justify their decision to others (Ratner and Kahn, 2002). A number of empirical studies have shown that retailers offering larger assortments tend to attract more customers, as well as customers from greater distances, than retailers offering smaller assortments (Amine and Cadenat, 2003; Arnold et al., 1983; Dhar et al., 2001; Louviere and Gaeth, 1987).

Consumer preference for larger assortments has been attributed to the fact that when choosing among assortments consumers seek to maximize decision flexibility and "hedge" against future preference uncertainty (McAlister and Pessemier, 1982). In this context, larger assortments offer a greater variety of options, which, in turn, increase the probability of a better fit between a consumer's preferences and the available choice alternatives.

Recent research has argued that in addition to increased decision flexibility, consumer choice among assortments can also be influenced by the anticipated costs of selecting an option from the larger assortment. Thus, it has been proposed that consumers can choose to forgo the greater option variety and decision flexibility associated with larger assortments in order to minimize the cognitive effort in evaluating choice alternatives and simplify the choice of an option from the selected assortment (Chernev, 2006a; Huffman and Kahn, 1998).

Consumer choice among assortments can be better understood when considered in the context of a conceptual framework that views choice as a hierarchical decision process comprising two different stages: selecting an assortment and, subsequently, selecting an option from that assortment (Kahn and Lehmann, 1991; Kahn et al., 1987; Arentze et al., 2005; Cachon and Kok, 2007; Sood et al., 2004; Tversky and Sattath, 1979). In this context, consumers' assortment-size preferences have been attributed to the nature of the consumer decision process and, in particular, to the degree to which these two stages of the overall decision are considered jointly versus separately (Chernev, 2006a; see also Sood et al., 2004). Thus, increasing consumers' awareness of the itemselection task tends to increase the likelihood that consumers will view the assortment choice as a single decision (instead of two independent choices) and, therefore, select the assortment that optimizes their choice of an item. When the choice of an assortment and the subsequent item selection are viewed as two independent decisions, choosing the larger assortment is perceived as the optimal strategy. However, when considering both decisions jointly, consumers who believe that choosing an item from the larger assortment is going to be difficult are also less likely to prefer the larger assortment to a smaller one. Thus, by varying the decision focus, it is possible to systematically vary consumers' choice among assortments.

Consumer choice among assortments is also influenced by the attractiveness of the options. Thus, some assortments comprise options that are, on average, of higher quality and, hence, are likely to be perceived as more attractive (e.g., Nordstrom, Neiman Marcus, and Whole Foods). In contrast, other assortments comprise options that are, on average, of lower quality and are likely to be perceived as relatively less attractive (e.g., dollar stores, Value City, and K-Mart). In addition, some assortments can be perceived as more attractive because the items they carry match customer preferences. To illustrate, assortments comprising bestseller items that are likely to appeal to the majority of consumers are likely to be perceived, on average, as more attractive than assortments comprising less popular items.

Recent research has further shown that consumer choice among assortments is a function of the attractiveness of the options contained in these assortments, such that smaller assortments tend to be more preferred when choosing among assortments comprising relatively more attractive options than when choosing among assortments comprising relatively less attractive options (Chernev and Hamilton, 2009). To illustrate, when choosing between a retailer carrying a larger assortment and one carrying a smaller assortment, consumers are more likely to prefer the latter when both assortments comprise relatively more attractive options than when they comprise relatively less attractive options. Anecdotal evidence from the ice cream industry suggests that flavor assortments are correlated with quality, such that higher end manufacturers (e.g., Haagen-Dazs) tend to offer less variety than lower end manufacturers, and higher end product lines

#### 32 Choosing Among Assortments

offer less variety of flavors than lower end product lines (Kochak, 1985; Shugan, 1989).

This finding is attributed to the notion that in the case of assortments comprising relatively attractive options, the marginal benefit from having a larger assortment to choose from is likely to be less than in the case of assortments comprising relatively less attractive options — a proposition consistent with the concavity of the value function (Bernoulli, 1738; Kahneman and Tversky, 1979; Nowlis and Simonson, 1996; Chandon and Wansink, 2007). With respect to consumer choice among assortments, the diminishing marginal value principle implies that increasing the attractiveness of the options in both larger and smaller assortments is likely to bring the assortments closer together in terms of the benefits consumers perceive. As a result, the perceived difference between these assortments will decrease with the increase of the options' attractiveness, which, in turn, will decrease the relative advantage of the larger set. The impact of option attractiveness on choice among assortments has been empirically shown not only to have a significant impact on consumer preferences but also to lead to a preference reversal in favor of the smaller assortment (Chernev and Hamilton, 2009).

The discussion of the impact of assortment size on choice among assortments can be summarized in the following propositions:

- P<sub>3.1</sub>: Consumer choice among assortments is a function of assortment size and consumers' decision focus. In particular, larger assortments tend to be more preferred (relative to smaller assortments) in cases when consumers focus primarily on the assortment-choice task than in cases when consumers focus primarily on the task of choosing an item from an already selected assortment.
- $P_{3.2}$ : Consumer choice among assortments is a function of assortment size and the attractiveness of items included in these assortments. In particular, smaller assortments tend to be more preferred when the attractiveness of the options comprising the available assortments is high rather than when it is low. Furthermore, the relationship between assortment

size and option attractiveness is concave, with the marginal impact of assortment size on choice decreasing as the attractiveness of the options increases.

#### 4.2 The Impact of Assortment Structure on Choice among Assortments

In addition to being influenced by the number of alternatives, consumer choice among assortments is also a function of the relationships between these alternatives. The impact of the structure of the decision set on assortment choice involves two different aspects: option variety and option complementarity. The impact of these factors on choice among assortments is discussed in the following sections.

Prior research has shown that a reduction in the perceived variety of a given assortment will lower its choice likelihood (Broniarczyk et al., 1998; Sloot et al., 2006). It has further been argued that consumers will seek more variety as the number of items purchased from the same category increases (Ratner et al., 1999; Simonson and Winer, 1992; Walsh, 1995; see also Ariely and Levav, 2000; Arnold et al., 1983; Read and Loewenstein, 1995). The behavioral rationale for this finding is that larger quantities are associated with a longer consumption horizon, thus raising uncertainty about future consumption preferences; to deal with this uncertainty, consumers broaden the assortment of items at the time of purchase. Research by Hoch et al. (1999) has further documented that consumers are more satisfied with and are likely to choose assortments that offer high variety and are displayed in an organized rather than random manner.

Assortment choice can also be related to the degree to which options are differentiated by complementary versus noncomplementary features (Chernev, 2005). Thus, when choosing among assortments, consumers are more likely to select assortments differentiated by complementary features (i.e., features with additive utility that complement one another with respect to a consumer's ideal point, such as tartar protection and cavity prevention of toothpaste) than assortments differentiated by noncomplementary features (i.e., features with nonadditive utility, such as toothpaste flavor) — a counterintuitive finding, given

#### 34 Choosing Among Assortments

that consumers are less likely to make a choice from a complementary than a noncomplementary assortment.

It has been further shown that brands that offer a greater variety of internally consistent options are likely to be perceived as being of higher quality and consequently will more likely be chosen (Berger et al., 2007). Thus, large assortments comprising category-specific options (e.g., chocolates with different cocoa content levels) are more likely than cross-category assortments to be interpreted by consumers as signals of commitment to the category, which, in turn, translate to a perception of higher quality.

Assortment choice has also been shown to be a function of the availability of an option that clearly dominates all others because of its close proximity to a consumer's ideal point (Chernev, 2006a). The availability of such an "ideal" option has been shown to decrease consumer preference for larger assortments — an effect attributed to the fact that the presence of such an "ideal" option decreases the marginal utility that can be derived from the presence of extra alternatives in the larger assortment.

The discussion of the impact of assortment structure on choice among assortments can be summarized in the following propositions:

- P<sub>3.3</sub>: Consumer choice among assortments is a function of assortment variety and the organization of the items in the choice set. In particular, consumers are more are likely to choose assortments that offer high variety and are displayed in an organized rather than random manner.
- P<sub>3.4</sub>: Consumer choice among assortments is a function of assortment size and the complementarity of the attributes differentiating its options. In particular, consumers are more likely to select assortments differentiated by noncomplementary rather than complementary attributes.
- $P_{3.5}$ : Consumer choice among assortments is a function of the availability of an option in close proximity to a consumer's ideal point. Specifically, consumer preference for larger assortments is likely to be less pronounced in the presence of an "ideal" option.

#### 4.3 The Impact of Purchase-Quantity Goals on Choice among Assortments

Most of the existing research examining consumer choice among assortments has focused on a scenario in which consumers aim to buy a single option. The issue of how purchase quantity influences consumers' choice among assortments has received relatively little attention in the literature. Recent research has shown that consumers purchasing a larger quantity tend to prefer assortments offering larger varieties (Bucklin et al., 1998; Simonson, 1990; Simonson and Winer, 1992; Walsh, 1995), which, in turn, implies greater preference for larger versus smaller assortments.

It has further been shown that consumers' choice of an assortment is influenced by their purchase-quantity goals, such that an assortment is more likely to be chosen if its size matches the desired purchase quantity (Cherney, 2008). Thus, when consumers are uncertain in their preferences, a match between the size of an assortment and the number of to-be-purchased items allows them to simplify the selection process by eliminating the need to trade off the benefits and costs involved a strategy referred to as the quantity-matching heuristic. To illustrate, when choosing between an assortment of five items and an assortment of ten items, a consumer purchasing five items should be more likely to choose the smaller, five-item assortment than a consumer purchasing three items. In this context, it has been argued that this quantitymatching heuristic simplifies the choice process by allowing the decision maker to avoid tradeoffs associated with choosing a specific option. Thus, instead of deciding which and how many products to purchase, consumers can simply select the matching assortment.

The quantity-matching heuristic has been documented in a variety of decision scenarios, such as when purchases are intended for consumption over time, as well as when the purchase quantity is set by a retailer's volume-based promotions. It has been further documented that the quantity-matching heuristic tends to be more pronounced when decision uncertainty is high than when it is low, when consumers expect to have to justify their decisions, when consumers engage in variety-seeking behavior, and when consumers are aware of

#### 36 Choosing Among Assortments

the cognitive costs associated with choosing individual options from an already selected assortment.

The discussion of the impact of purchase quantity on choice among assortments can be summarized in the following propositions:

- P<sub>3.6</sub>: Consumer choice among assortments is a function of the desired purchase quantity. In particular, consumers are more likely to select larger assortments when intending to purchase a greater number of items.
- $P_{3.7}$ : Consumer choice among assortments is a function of the match between the assortment size and the purchasequantity goal. In particular, consumers are more likely to select an assortment when its size matches the number of to-be purchased items.

## 5

### Developing an Agenda for Further Research

This review takes a consumer's perspective to examine how product assortment influences judgment and choice. The impact of assortment on choice is discussed in the context of three key domains: how consumers perceive the variety of items in an assortment, how consumers choose among assortments, and how consumers choose an item from a given assortment. In particular, this review examines the impact of the individual factors represented by these three domains on four types of decision outcomes: purchase likelihood from a given assortment, the number of options purchased, the particular options chosen, and the strength of a consumer's preference for the chosen option(s). A conceptual analysis of the research in these three areas is summarized in Figure 5.1.

Factors that influence consumer perceptions of assortment variety can be divided into two broad categories: assortment factors (e.g., assortment size, assortment organization, and option differentiation) and consumer factors (e.g., consumer expertise and the decision task). Each of these factors can, in turn, be viewed as a composite factor that includes multiple aspects. For example, option differentiation involves

#### 38 Developing an Agenda for Further Research



Fig. 5.1 Research framework for investigating the impact of product assortment on consumer choice.

factors such as the degree of distinctiveness of assortment options, the dispersion of option frequencies, and the proximity of the options.

In the same vein, factors that influence assortment choice (both among assortments and from one assortment) can be divided into assortment and consumer factors. The key assortment factors include assortment size, assortment organization, option differentiation (e.g., variety, option complementarity, option alignability, and price dispersion), and option attractiveness; whereas the key consumer factors include expertise (e.g., awareness of the relevant attributes and attribute levels), preference uncertainty (e.g., availability of an ideal option), consumer goals (e.g., purchase quantity and purchase timing), and the nature of the decision task (e.g., accountability and complexity).

The predictions concerning the impact of these factors on different decision outcome variables are summarized in a series of research propositions outlined in this review. Most of these propositions reflect findings already documented in prior research. Despite the plethora of research examining the impact of product assortment on consumer choice, however, there are many unexplored areas that call for further investigation. Mapping the research propositions supported by prior research onto the framework presented in Figure 5.1 can help identify knowledge gaps that have not been addressed by prior research. Several promising areas for further investigation are discussed below.

An important issue not addressed by the existing research involves examining how factors such as assortment size and structure influence the choice of specific options. Indeed, while most of the existing research has focused on factors that reflect consumer preferences for the assortment in general and the likelihood of purchasing *any* option from that assortment, an issue of interest to many manufacturers and retailers involves understanding and, eventually, influencing consumer choice of a *particular* option from a given assortment. Prior research has already identified several factors that are likely to influence the choice of a particular option, such as the attraction effect, the compromise effect, and accountability (Simonson, 1999; Sela et al., 2009). Examining how these factors influence choice and how assortment-specific characteristics such as the size of the choice set and the organization of the individual options impact choice is an important area for further investigation.

Another underresearched issue involves developing strategies to overcome the potential drawbacks of large assortments. In many product categories, ranging from choosing a retirement plan to selecting a laundry detergent, consumers are often confronted with a large number of options without readily available decision strategies to facilitate making a "rational" decision — a phenomenon sometimes referred to as the "tyranny of choice" (Schwartz, 2000). This problem is exacerbated in

#### 40 Developing an Agenda for Further Research

developing countries, in which consumers are for the first time faced with making choices from multiple options, which is typical for the U.S. retail environment. Identifying strategies to help consumers make better choices when faced with complex decisions is an important area for further investigation (Botti and Iyengar, 2006; Mick et al., 2004).

Most of the research has focused on the cognitive aspects of assortment choice, involving issues such as information load and cognitive effort, which are associated with evaluating the choice options. Further research is needed to investigate the affective (e.g., regret) and motivational (e.g., focus on maximizing gains or minimizing losses) aspects of choice. In addition, it is important to establish the interplay between the cognitive, affective, and motivational aspects of consumer decision processes. For example, an interesting question involves the possibility of influencing the perceived decision difficulty of the choice task by varying consumers' motivation for making the decision, by influencing their affective evaluation of the decision outcome, as well as by structuring the decision process (Levav et al., 2010). Investigating assortment choice in the broader context of decision processes is a fruitful venue for further investigation.

An important area for further investigation involves the development of an integrative model of managerial decision making that incorporates individual-level decision factors identified in prior behavioral research. Indeed, when modeling consumer preferences for a product in a given assortment, most quantitative research makes the implicit assumption that a product's utility is relatively independent from the utility of the other available options (Misra, 2008). The behavioral research discussed in this review suggests, however, that this simplifying assumption might lead to biased estimates of consumer preferences and purchase behavior. In this context, developing models that estimate the utility of any given option as a function of the other available options is an important area for further research.

On a more general level, assortment research can benefit from a quantitative approach to analyzing the prior findings. The existence of a variety of factors that are likely to influence assortment choice calls for a model-driven meta-analytic approach (e.g., Becker, 2001) that aims to identify the theoretical drivers that determine the impact of assortment size on consumer choice. Such a meta-analytic approach is likely to be more informative for analyzing the impact of assortment size on choice overload than the typical quantitative approach, which is used to document the presence of a significant main affect across multiple studies reporting directionally consistent results. Thus, instead of simply looking for relationships between readily observable variables, the meta-analysis should focus on testing the validity of a conceptual model that reflects the decision processes underlying assortment perceptions and choice.

A first step in developing such a theory-based meta-analytic review involves articulating a general model of the impact of product assortment on consumer choice. In this context, choice overload can be represented as a function of the relationship between (1) the characteristics of the assortment (e.g., assortment size, assortment organization, and option differentiation) and (2) the characteristics of the consumer that determine his/her reaction to a given assortment (e.g., expertise, preference uncertainty, consumer goals, and the nature of the decision task). Testing the validity of a model reflecting this relationship across different experimental conditions can shed light on our understanding of the processes underlying assortment choice and help articulate its antecedents and consequences.

## 6

## Product Assortment and Consumer Choice: A Managerial Perspective

The research discussed in this review suggests several strategies for managing product assortments. On a more general level, these strategies can be grouped into two categories: (1) strategies for optimizing the assortment and (2) strategies for optimizing the consumer decisionmaking process (Hamilton and Chernev, 2010). These two types of strategies are discussed in more detail in the following sections.

#### 6.1 Strategies for Optimizing the Assortment

This research identifies three dimensions on which an assortment can be optimized: (1) assortment size (the total number of options contained in an assortment), (2) assortment organization (the way in which choice options are presented to consumers), and (3) option differentiation (the relationship among the individual options in a given assortment). Strategies for assortment optimization on each of these dimensions are discussed below.

#### 6.1.1 Optimizing Assortment Size

A common belief among manufacturers and retailers is that offering more choice is always better. To illustrate, faced with slower growth many manufacturers — including Procter & Gamble, Unilever, and Johnson & Johnson — have adopted product proliferation strategies aimed at giving consumers more options. In many cases these strategies involve churning out tens and sometimes hundreds of minor variations of existing products. Many retailers have adopted similar strategies as well. Furthermore, many online retailers, such as Amazon.com, have used the breadth and/or depth of their assortments as a key aspect of their differentiation strategy. Contrary to this popular belief, the empirical evidence outlined in this review shows that offering consumers a greater variety of options can sometimes have a detrimental impact on purchase likelihood, in addition to driving up manufacturing and distribution costs.

One strategy for minimizing the negative consequences of choice overload is to reduce the assortment size to a point where the advantages of adding another option are lower than the disadvantages of complicating the consumer decision process. This strategy calls for designing more efficient assortments comprising options that are most likely to appeal to target customers while excluding those that are unlikely to be preferred by those customers. A number of manufacturers and retailers have adopted such strategies. For example, Apple offers a very limited set of offerings and customization options, and Wal-Mart offers a rather limited variety of options in each category. And even though the size of these assortments is driven primarily by manufacturing, logistic, and cost considerations, these companies might receive the additional benefit from simplifying consumer choice.

#### 6.1.2 Optimizing the Assortment Organization

Improving the organization of the available options can facilitate choice by reducing some of the cognitive costs associated with the decision process. Because choice complexity increases with assortment size, larger assortments are likely to benefit from having a logical organization that will simplify choice. In contrast, smaller assortments may

#### 44 Product Assortment and Consumer Choice: A Managerial Perspective

benefit from lack of organization because disorganized assortments are often perceived as offering more variety than organized assortments. Indeed, because greater variety is one of the reasons individuals prefer larger assortments over smaller ones, disorganization can make smaller assortments more appealing. Thus, while organization can be used as a strategic tool to simplify choice from large assortments, disorganization offers a strategy to make smaller assortments more appealing without actually changing the number of items offered.

There are two common approaches to organizing options within an assortment: taxonomic and goal-derived. Taxonomic organization involves arranging products based on their inherent characteristics, such as category, manufacturer, size, or type. For example, taxonomic organization calls for displaying all brands of cereal together, in subgroups by types of cereal and/or the manufacturer. Goal-derived organization, on the other hand, groups options according to the underlying consumer goal they serve. For example, goal-derived categorization calls for combining cereal with complementary products such as milk and displaying the two products together. Because shopping is usually goal driven, goal-derived categories frequently provide a better match for consumers' decision processes.

#### 6.1.3 Optimizing Option Differentiation

An important issue concerns designing strategies for efficient management of assortment variety. These design strategies are aimed at maximizing the perceived variety while minimizing the actual number of unique options. In this context, the research outlined in this review suggests that a retailer can increase its perceived variety not only by increasing the actual number of SKUs in its inventory but also by managing the shelf space allocated to each item, by the similarity of the items, the organization of the assortment, the ratio of the potential and actual assortment (assortment density), and the pattern of dispersion of item frequencies in the assortment (entropy).

Both insufficient differentiation and overdifferentiation can adversely impact consumer choice. Thus, assortments in which options are differentiated on attributes that are marginally relevant to consumers might be associated with lower choice probability compared to assortments in which consumers can easily determine which option best matches their preferences. For example, minor variations in an offering's marketing mix variables — such as product attributes, brand, and price — often end up confusing rather than facilitating choice. Confusion can also be caused by overdifferentiation, which occurs when products vary on multiple relevant dimensions without all possible combinations being available. Indeed, the more relevant dimensions on which choice options are differentiated, the greater the number of resulting attribute combinations (and resulting SKUs). The mark of a successful differentiation strategy is designing assortments that match the underlying needs of its target customers.

#### 6.2 Strategies for Optimizing the Consumer Decision-Making Process

In addition to optimizing the size, organization, and differentiation of their assortments, managers can influence choice by optimizing the consumer decision-making process. Common strategies for optimizing the consumer decision process involve providing a default option, helping consumers articulate their preferences, and structuring the decision process. These choice-engineering strategies are discussed in more detail below.

#### 6.2.1 Providing a Default Option

A default option gives consumers a low-effort way of making a choice without having to expend the energy needed for a thorough search and evaluation. In addition, a default option provides a reference point for evaluating the other options in the set. This is because comparing each option to the default option is much easier than evaluating each option relative to all the other options available. Providing a default option can influence the likelihood of making a choice from a given set of alternatives. Thus, research has shown that even for very consequential decisions, such as whether to become an organ donor or participate in a company's retirement saving plan, making opting in versus opting out the default decision can influence people's choices.

#### 46 Product Assortment and Consumer Choice: A Managerial Perspective

In addition to influencing the overall purchase probability from an assortment, providing a default option can also influence which particular option consumers will choose — a strategy that is particularly effective in the case of larger assortments when consumers are faced with an extensive set of options. Thus, default-option strategies such as showcasing specific options in marketing communications, end-ofaisle displays, and online are likely to facilitate choice by providing a simple decision rule for consumers without well-articulated preferences.

#### 6.2.2 Facilitating Preference Articulation

A particularly effective strategy for managing consumer choice involves helping consumers define an attribute combination that represents their "ideal" before they are shown the options available. Indeed, when consumers are unaware of the relative importance of different attributes and their preferences for specific levels of each attribute, they have to articulate these preferences while they are searching for the option that delivers the highest utility on these attributes. In this context, structuring the decision process in a way that helps consumers articulate their preferences and identify their ideal point can help facilitate choice. Note, however, that such preference articulation benefits only companies offering large assortments; for companies offering smaller assortments, the effect of preference articulation is likely to be reversed. Indeed, the greater the precision with which consumers define their ideal point, the greater the chance that a corresponding option might not be present in the available assortment. Thus, prechoice preference articulation tends to help primarily the companies carrying larger assortments by reducing customer confusion and streamlining the search and decision processes.

#### 6.2.3 Managing Decision Focus

An alternative strategy for managing assortment choice involves shifting consumer focus from choosing the assortment itself (e.g., choosing a store) to choosing an option (e.g., choosing the product within the store). Research has shown that when the consumer decision process involves choosing a retailer, the advantages of larger assortments are likely to loom large, while the potential drawbacks (e.g., the difficulty of selecting a single option) seem less important. In contrast, when consumers are choosing a specific option from an already selected assortment, the disadvantages of a large assortment become very prominent. This implies that communication strategies need to consider the stage of the consumer decision process. Promoting assortment size is likely to be more beneficial when consumers are selecting a retailer. On the other hand, when consumers are shopping for a particular option, communications that will help them navigate through the plethora of available alternatives might be more appropriate.

# 7 Conclusion

During the past two decades there has been substantial amount of research investigating consumer reaction to product assortment. This review groups prior studies into three main categories to define the domain of assortment research: (1) research examining consumer perceptions of assortment variety, (2) research studying consumer choice from an assortment, and (3) research focused on consumer choice among assortments. Some of the key findings in each of these three areas were synthesized in the form of specific research propositions that can be used to facilitate managerial decisions as well as to guide further empirical research. Testing the validity of these propositions in different contexts — both in theory and practice — as well as identifying new factors that influence consumer reaction to product assortments is a fruitful area for research.

- Aaker, D. A. (2004), Brand Portfolio Strategy: Creating Relevance, Differentiation, Energy, Leverage, and Clarity. New York: Free Press.
- Ainslie, G. (1975), 'Specious reward: A behavioral theory of impulsiveness and impulse control'. *Psychological Bulletin* 82(July), 463–496.
- Amine, A. and S. Cadenat (2003), 'Efficient retailer assortment: A consumer choice evaluation perspective'. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management **31**(November), 486–497.
- Anderson, L. K., J. R. Taylor, and R. J. Holloway (1966), 'The consumer and his alternatives: An experimental approach'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 3(February), 62–67.
- Arentze, T. A., H. Oppewal, and H. J. P. Timmermans (2005), 'A multipurpose shopping trip model to assess retail agglomeration effects'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 42(February), 109–115.
- Ariely, D. and J. Levav (2000), 'Sequential choice in group settings: Taking the road less traveled and less enjoyed'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 27(December), 279–290.
- Arnold, S. J., T. E. Oum, and D. J. Tigert (1983), 'Determinant attributes in retail patronage: Seasonal, temporal, regional, and international comparisons'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 20(May), 149–157.

- Babin, B. J., W. R. Darden, and M. Griffin (1994), 'Work and/or fun: Measuring hedonic and utilitarian shopping value'. *Journal of Con*sumer Research 20(March), 644–656.
- Baumol, W. J. and E. A. Ide (1956), 'Variety in retailing'. Management Science 3(October), 93–101.
- Bayus, B. L. and W. P. Putsis Jr. (1999), 'Product proliferation: An empirical analysis of product line determinants and market outcomes'. *Marketing Science* 18(January), 137–153.
- Becker, B. J. (2001), 'Examining theoretical models through research synthesis: The benefits of model-driven meta-analysis'. *Evaluation &* the Health Professions 24(June), 190–217.
- Bellenger, D. N. and P. K. Korgaonkar (1980), 'Profiling the recreational shopper'. *Journal of Retailing* 56(Fall), 77–92.
- Benartzi, S. and R. H. Thaler (2001), 'Naive diversification strategies in defined contribution saving plans'. American Economic Review 91(March), 79–98.
- Berger, J., M. Draganska, and I. Simonson (2007), 'The influence of product variety on brand perception and choice'. *Marketing Science* 26(July), 460–472.
- Bernoulli, D. (1738), 'Specimen theoriae novae de mensura sortis'. Commentarii Academiae Scientiarum Imperialis Petropolitanae pp. 175–192. (English translation in Econometrica, 1954, 22, pp. 23–36).
- Betancourt, R. and D. Gautschi (1990), 'Demand complementarities, household production, and retail assortments'. *Marketing Science* 9(Spring), 146–161.
- Boatwright, P. and J. C. Nunes (2001), 'Reducing assortment: an attribute-based approach'. *Journal of Marketing* **65**(July), 50–63.
- Botti, S. and C. K. Hsee (2010), 'Dazed and confused by choice: How the temporal costs of choice freedom lead to undesirable outcomes'. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes* **112**(2), 161–171.
- Botti, S. and S. S. Iyengar (2004), 'The psychological pleasure and pain of choosing: When people prefer choosing at the cost of subsequent outcome satisfaction'. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology* 87(September), 312–326.

- Botti, S. and S. S. Iyengar (2006), 'The dark side of choice: when choice impairs social welfare'. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing* **25**(Spring), 24–38.
- Botti, S. and A. L. McGill (2006), 'When choosing is not deciding: The effect of perceived responsibility on satisfaction'. *Journal of Con*sumer Research 33(September), 211–219.
- Bown, N. J., D. Read, and B. Summers (2003), 'The lure of choice'. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making 16(October), 297–308.
- Brehm, J. W. (1972), Responses to the Loss of Freedom: A Theory of Psychological Reactance. Morristown N J: General Learning Press.
- Broniarczyk, S. (2008), 'Product assortment'. In: Handbook of Consumer Psychology. New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, pp. 755–779.
- Broniarczyk, S. M., W. D. Hoyer, and L. McAlister (1998), "Consumers' perceptions of the assortment offered in a grocery category: The impact of item reduction'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 35(May), 166–176.
- Bucklin, R. E., S. Gupta, and S. Siddarth (1998), 'Modelling the effect of purchase quantity on consumer choice of product assortment'. *Journal of Forecasting* 17(June–July), 281–301.
- Cachon, G. P. and A. G. Kok (2007), 'Category management and coordination in retail assortment planning in the presence of basket shopping consumers'. *Management Science* 53(June), 934–951.
- Campbell, D. T. (1958), 'Common fate, similarity, and other indices of the status of aggregates of persons as social entities. 1958'. *Behavioral Science* 3(January), 14–25.
- Chandon, P. and B. Wansink (2002), 'When are stockpiled products consumed faster? A convenience-salience framework of postpurchase consumption incidence and quantity'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 39(August), 321–335.
- Chandon, P. and B. Wansink (2007), 'Is obesity caused by calorie underestimation? A psychophysical model of meal size estimation'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 44(February), 84–99.
- Chernev, A. (2003a), 'Product assortment and individual decision processes'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* **85**(July), 151–162.

- Chernev, A. (2003b), 'When more is less and less is more: The role of ideal point availability and assortment in consumer choice'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **30**(September), 170–183.
- Chernev, A. (2005), 'Feature complementarity and assortment in choice'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **31**(March), 748–759.
- Chernev, A. (2006a), 'Decision focus and consumer choice among assortments'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **33**(June), 50–59.
- Chernev, A. (2006b), 'Differentiation and parity in assortment pricing'. Journal of Consumer Research 33 (September), 199–210.
- Chernev, A. (2008), 'The role of purchase quantity in assortment choice: The quantity-matching heuristic'. *Journal of Marketing Research* **45**(April), 171–181.
- Chernev, A. and R. Hamilton (2009), 'Assortment size and option attractiveness in consumer choice among retailers'. *Journal of Marketing Research* **46**(June), 410–420.
- Dhar, R. (1997), 'Consumer preference for a no-choice option'. *Journal* of Consumer Research 24(September), 215–231.
- Dhar, R. and I. Simonson (1999), 'Making complementary choices in consumption episodes: Highlighting versus balancing'. *Journal of Marketing Research* **36**(February), 29–44.
- Dhar, R. and I. Simonson (2003), 'The effect of forced choice on choice'. Journal of Marketing Research **40**(May), 146–160.
- Dhar, S. K., S. J. Hoch, and N. Kumar (2001), 'Effective category management depends on the role of the category'. *Journal of Retailing* **77**(Summer), 165–184.
- Diehl, K. (2005), 'When two rights make a wrong: Searching too much in ordered environments'. Journal of Marketing Research 42(August), 313–322.
- Diehl, K., L. J. Kornish, and J. G. Lynch Jr. (2003), 'Smart agents: When lower search costs for quality information increase price sensitivity'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **30**(June), 56–71.
- Diehl, K. and C. Poynor (2010), 'Great expectations?! Assortment size, expectations and satisfaction'. Journal of Marketing Research 47(April), 312–322.
- Draganska, M. and D. C. Jain (2005), 'Product-line length as a competitive tool'. Journal of Economics & Management Strategy 14(March), 1–28.

- Dreze, X., S. J. Hoch, and M. E. Purk (1994), 'Shelf management and space elasticity'. *Journal of Retailing* 70(Winter), 301–326.
- Farquhar, P. H. and V. R. Rao (1976), 'A balance model for evaluating subsets of multiattributed items'. *Management Science* 22(January), 528–539.
- Fox, C. R., R. K. Ratner, and D. S. Lieb (2005), 'How subjective grouping of options influences choice and allocation: Diversification bias and the phenomenon of partition dependence'. *Journal of Experimental Psychology/General* 134(4), 538–551.
- Fredrickson, B. L. and D. Kahneman (1993), 'Duration neglect in retrospective evaluations of affective episodes'. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology 65(July), 45–55.
- Garner, W. R. (1974), The Processing of Information and Structure. Oxford, England: Erlbaum.
- Gourville, J. T. (1998), 'Pennies-a-day: The effect of temporal reframing on transaction evaluation'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **24**(March), 395–408.
- Gourville, J. T. and D. Soman (2005), 'Overchoice and assortment type: When and why variety backfires'. *Marketing Science* **24**(Summer), 382–395.
- Greenleaf, E. A. and D. R. Lehmann (1995), 'Reasons for substantial delay in consumer decision making'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 22(September), 186–199.
- Griffin, J. G. and S. Broniarczyk (2010), 'The slippery slope: The impact of feature alignability on search and satisfaction'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 47(April), 323–334.
- Gupta, S. (1988), 'Impact of sales promotions on when, what, and how much to buy'. Journal of Marketing Research 25(November), 342–355.
- Hamilton, R. and A. Chernev (2010), 'The psychology of product assortments: When variety leads to choice overlaod'. In: A. Tybout and B. Calder (eds.): *Kellogg on Marketing*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons Inc, 2nd edition.
- Harlam, B. A. and L. M. Lodish (1995), 'Modeling consumers' choices of multiple items'. Journal of Marketing Research 32(November), 404–418.

- Haynes, G. A. (2009), 'Testing the boundaries of the choice overload phenomenon: The effect of number of options and time pressure on decision difficulty and satisfaction'. *Psychology & Marketing* 26, 204–212.
- Hoch, S. J., E. T. Bradlow, and B. Wansink (1999), 'The variety of an assortment'. *Marketing Science* 18(4), 527–546.
- Hoch, S. J., E. T. Bradlow, and B. Wansink (2002), 'Rejoinder to "the variety of an assortment: An extension to the attribute-based approach". *Marketing science* 21(Summer), 342–346.
- Hotelling, H. (1929), 'Stability in competition'. The Economic Journal 39(March), 41–57.
- Huber, J., J. W. Payne, and C. Puto (1982), 'Adding asymmetrically dominated alternatives: Violations of regularity and the similarity hypothesis'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 9(June), 90–98.
- Huberman, G., S. Iyengar, and W. Jiang (2007), 'Defined contribution pension plans: Determinants of participation and contributions rates'. *Journal of Financial Services Research* **31**(1), 1–32.
- Huffman, C. and B. E. Kahn (1998), 'Variety for sale: Mass customization or mass confusion?'. Journal of Retailing 74(Winter), 491–513.
- Inbar, Y., S. Botti, and K. Hanko (2011), 'Decision speed and choice regret: When haste feels like waste'. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology 47(3), 533–540.
- Inesi, M. E., S. Botti, D. Dubois, D. Rucker, and A. Galinsky (2011), 'Power and choice: Their dynamic interplay in quenching the thirst for personal control'. *Psychological Science* 22(8), 1042–1048.
- Inman, J. J. (2001), 'The role of sensory-specific satiety in attributelevel variety seeking'. Journal of Consumer Research 28(June), 105–120.
- Iyengar, S. (2010), The Art of Choosing. London, UK: Little Brown.
- Iyengar, S. S., G. Huberman, and W. Jiang (2004), 'How much choice is too much? Contributions to 401(K) retirement plans'. In: O. S. Mitchell and S. Utkus (eds.): *Pension Design and Structure: New Lessons from Behavioral Finance*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Iyengar, S. S. and M. R. Lepper (2000), 'When choice is demotivating: Can one desire too much of a good thing?'. Journal of Personality & Social Psychology 79(December), 995–1006.

- Iyengar, S. S., R. E. Wells, and B. Schwartz (2006), 'Doing better but feeling worse'. *Psychological Science* 17(February), 143–150.
- Jacoby, J., D. E. Speller, and C. A. Kohn (1974), 'Brand choice behavior as a function of information load'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 11(February), 63–69.
- Johnson, E. F. and D. Goldstein (2003), 'Do defaults save lives?'. Science **302**(November), 1338–1339.
- Kahn, B. E. (1995), 'Consumer variety-seeking among goods and services'. Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services 2(July), 139–148.
- Kahn, B. E. (1999), 'Introduction to the special issue: Assortment planning'. Journal of Retailing 75(Fall), 289–293.
- Kahn, B. E. and D. R. Lehmann (1991), 'Modeling choice among assortments'. Journal of Retailing 67(Fall), 274–299.
- Kahn, B. E., W. L. Moore, and R. Glazer (1987), 'Experiments in constrained choice'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 14(June), 96–113.
- Kahn, B. E. and B. Wansink (2004), 'The influence of assortment structure on perceived variety and consumption quantities'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **30**(March), 519–533.
- Kahneman, D. and J. S. Snell (1992), 'Predicting a changing taste: Do people know what they will like?'. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making 5(3), 187–200.
- Kahneman, D. and A. Tversky (1979), 'Prospect theory: An analysis of decision under risk'. *Econometrica* 47(March), 263–291.
- Kahneman, D., P. P. Wakker, and R. Sarin (1997), 'Back to bentham? Explorations of experienced utility'. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 112(May), 375–405.
- Karni, E. and A. Schwartz (1977), 'Search theory: The case of search with uncertain recall'. *Journal of Economic Theory* 16(1), 38–52.
- Kay, A. C. and J. T. Jost (2003), 'Complementary justice: Effects of "poor but happy" and "poor but honest" stereotype exemplars on system justification and implicit activation of the justice motive'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 85, 823–837.
- Kivetz, R. and I. Simonson (2002), 'Earning the right to indulge: Effort as a determinant of customer preferences toward frequency program rewards'. *Journal of Marketing Research* **39**(May), 155–170.

- Kochak, J. (1985), 'Sweet paradox proves profitable'. Restaurant Business (May), 135–142.
- Kreps, D. M. (1979), 'A representation theorem for preference for flexibility'. *Econometrica* 47(May), 565–577.
- Kuksov, D. and J. M. Villas-Boas (2010), 'When more alternatives lead to less choice'. *Marketing Science* 29(May–June), 507–524.
- Kullback, S. (1959), Information Theory and Statistics. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Kurt Salmon Associates (1993), Efficient Consumer Response: Enhancing Consumer Value in the Grocery Industry, vol. 14 (5/6).
  Washington, DC: Food Marketing Institute.
- Lancaster, K. (1990), 'The economics of product variety: A survey'. Marketing Science 9(Summer), 189–206.
- Lattin, J. M. (1987), 'A model of balanced choice behavior'. Marketing Science 6(Winter), 48–65.
- Lee, J. K. H. and J. H. Steckel (1999), 'Consumer strategies for purchasing assortments within a single product class'. *Journal of Retailing* **75**(Autumn), 387–403.
- Lehmann, D. R. (1998), 'Customer reactions to variety: Too much of a good thing'. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* **26**(1), 62–65.
- Lerner, M. J. (1980), *The Belief in a Just World: A Fundamental Delusion*. New York: Plenum Press.
- Levav, J., M. Heitmann, H. Andreas, and S. S. Iyengar (2010), 'Order in product customization decisions: Evidence from field experiments'. *Journal of Political Economy* **118**(2), 274–299.
- Levav, J. and Rui (Juliet) Zhu (2009), 'Seeking freedom through variety'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **36**(December), 600–610.
- Levy, M. and B. A. Weitz (2006), *Retailing Management*. McGraw-Hill/ Irwin: Boston, MA, 6th edition.
- Louviere, J. J. and G. J. Gaeth (1987), 'Decomposing the determinants of retail facility choice using the method of hierarchical information integration: A supermarket illustration'. *Journal of Retailing* 63(Spring), 25–48.
- Lurie, N. H. (2004), 'Decision making in information-rich environments: The role of information structure'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **30**(March), 473–486.

- Lynch, Jr., J. G. and D. Ariely (2000), 'Wine online: Search costs affect competition on price, quality, and distribution'. *Marketing Science* 19, 83–103.
- Malhotra, N. K. (1982), 'Information load and consumer decision making'. Journal of Consumer Research 8(March), 419–430.
- March, J. G. (1978), 'Bounded rationality, ambiguity, and the engineering of choice'. Bell Journal of Economics 9(Autumn), 587–608.
- Markman, A. B. and D. Gentner (1993), 'Structural alignment during similarity comparisons'. *Cognitive Psychology* 25(October), 431–467.
- McAlister, L. (1979), 'Choosing multiple items from a product class'. Journal of Consumer Research 6(December), 213–224.
- McAlister, L. (1982), 'A dynamic attribute satiation model of varietyseeking behavior'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 9(September), 141–150.
- McAlister, L. and E. Pessemier (1982), 'Variety seeking behavior: An interdisciplinary review'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 9(December), 311–322.
- Messinger, P. R. and C. Narasimhan (1997), 'A model of retail formats based on consumers' economizing on shopping time'. *Marketing Science* 16(Winter), 1–23.
- Mick, D. G., S. M. Broniarczyk, and J. Haidt (2004), 'Choose, choose, choose, choose, choose, choose: Emerging and prospective research on the deleterious effects of living in consumer hyperchoice'. *Journal of Business Ethics* 52(2), 207–211.
- Miller, C. E., J. Reardon, and D. E. McCorkle (1999), 'The effects of competition on retail structure: An examination of intratype, intertype, and intercategory competition'. *Journal of Marketing* 63(October), 107–120.
- Misra, K. (2008), 'Understanding retail assortments in competitive markets'. Working Paper Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University, 2001 Sheridan Road, Evanston, IL 60208.
- Mogilner, C., T. Rudnick, and S. S. Iyengar (2008), 'The mere categorization effect: How the presence of categories increases choosers' perceptions of assortment variety and outcome satisfaction'. *Journal* of Consumer Research 35(August), 202–215.
- Moorthy, K. S. (1984), 'Market segmentation, self-selection, and product line design'. *Marketing Science* **2**(Autumn), 288–307.

- Morales, A., B. E. Kahn, L. McAlister, and S. M. Broniarczyk (2005), 'Perceptions of assortment variety: The effects of congruency between consumers' internal and retailers' external organization'. *Journal of Retailing* 81(2), 159–169.
- Morrin, M., S. M. Broniarczyk, J. J. Inman, and J. Broussard (2008), 'Saving for retirement: The effects of fund assortment size and investor knowledge on asset allocation strategies'. *Journal of Con*sumer Affairs 42(Summer), 206–222.
- Nowlis, S. M. and I. Simonson (1996), 'The effect of new product features on brand choice'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 33(February), 36–46.
- Oppewal, H. and K. Koelemeijer (2005), 'More choice is better: Effects of assortment size and composition on assortment evaluation'. *International Journal of Research in Marketing* **22**(March), 45–60.
- Pan, Y. and G. M. Zinkhan (2006), 'Determinants of retail patronage: A meta-analytical perspective'. *Journal of Retailing* 82(3), 229–243.
- Pessemier, E. A. (1978), 'Stochastic properties of changing preferences'. American Economic Review 68, 380–385.
- Ratner, R. K. and B. E. Kahn (2002), 'The impact of private versus public consumption on variety-seeking behavior'. *Journal of Con*sumer Research 29(September), 246–257.
- Ratner, R. K., B. E. Kahn, and D. Kahneman (1999), 'Choosing lesspreferred experiences for the sake of variety'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 26(June), 1–15.
- Read, D. and G. Loewenstein (1995), 'Diversification bias: Explaining the discrepancy in variety seeking between combined and separated choices'. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied 1(March), 34–49.
- Redden, J. P. (2008), 'Reducing satiation: The role of categorization level'. Journal of Consumer Research 34(February), 624–634.
- Redden, J. P. and S. J. Hoch (2009), 'The presence of variety reduces perceived quantity'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 36(October), 406–417.
- Reibstein, D. J., S. A. Youngblood, and H. L. Fromkin (1975), 'Number of choices and perceived decision freedom as a determinant of

satisfaction and consumer behavior'. *Journal of Applied Psychology* **60**(August), 434–437.

- Richards, T. J. and S. F. Hamilton (2006), 'Rivalry in price and variety among supermarket retailers'. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 88(3), 710–726.
- Roberts, J. H. and J. M. Lattin (1991), 'Development and testing of a model of consideration set composition'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 28(November), 429–440.
- Rolls, B. J. et al. (1981), 'Variety in a meal enhances food intake in man'. *Physiology & Behavior* **26**(February), 215–221.
- Scammon, D. L. (1977), 'Information load and consumers'. Journal of Consumer Research 4(March), 148–155.
- Schwartz, B. (2000), 'Self-determination: The tyranny of freedom'. The American Psychologist 55(January), 79–88.
- Schwartz, B. (2003), The Paradox of Choice. New York: Harper Collins.
- Schwartz, B., A. Ward, J. Monterosso, S. Lyubomirsky, K. White, and D. R. Lehman (2002), 'Maximizing versus satisficing: Happiness is a matter of choice'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 83(5), 1178–1197.
- Sela, A., J. Berger, and W. Liu (2009), 'Variety, vice, and virtue: How assortment size influences option choice'. *Journal of Consumer Research* 35(April), 941–951.
- Shah, A. M. and G. Wolford (2007), 'Buying behavior as a function of parametric variation of number of choices'. *Psychological Science* 18(May), 369–370.
- Shannon, C. E. and W. Weaver (1949), The Mathematical Theory of Communication. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press.
- Shin, J. and D. Ariely (2004), 'Keeping doors open: The effect of unavailability on incentives to keep options viable'. *Management Sci*ence 50(May), 575–586.
- Shugan, S. M. (1980), 'The cost of thinking'. Journal of Consumer Research 7(September), 99–111.
- Shugan, S. M. (1989), 'Product assortment in a tripoly'. Management Science 35(March), 304–320.
- Simon, H. A. (1955), 'A behavioral model of rational choice'. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 69(February), 99–118.

- Simonson, I. (1989), 'Choice based on reasons: The case of attraction and compromise effects'. Journal of Consumer Research 16(September), 158–174.
- Simonson, I. (1990), 'The effect of purchase quantity and timing on variety-seeking behavior'. Journal of Marketing Research 27(May), 150–162.
- Simonson, I. (1999), 'The effect of product assortment on buyer preferences'. Journal of Retailing 75(Autumn), 347–370.
- Simonson, I. and A. Tversky (1992), 'Choice in context: Tradeoff contrast and extremeness aversion'. Journal of Marketing Research 29(August), 281–295.
- Simonson, I. and R. S. Winer (1992), 'The influence of purchase quantity and display format on consumer preference for variety'. *Journal* of Consumer Research 19(June), 133–138.
- Sloot, L. M., D. Fok, and P. C. Verhoef (2006), 'The short- and longterm impact of an assortment reduction on category sales'. *Journal* of Marketing Research 43(November), 536–548.
- Sood, S., Y. Rottenstreich, and L. Brenner (2004), 'On decisions that lead to decisions: Direct and derived evaluations of preference'. *Journal of Consumer Research* **31**(June), 17–25.
- Summers, J. O. (1974), 'Less information is better?'. Journal of Marketing Research 11(November), 467–468.
- Thaler, R. and S. Benartzi (2004), 'Save more tomorrow: Using behavioral economics to increase employee saving'. *Journal of Political Economy* 112, S164–S187.
- The Partnering Group (1998), 'Efficient assortment: Best practices report'. The Partnering Group.
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman (1991), 'Loss aversion in riskless choice: A reference-dependent model'. Quarterly Journal of Economics 106(November), 1039–1061.
- Tversky, A. and S. Sattath (1979), 'Preference trees'. Psychological Review 86(November), 542–573.
- Tversky, A. and E. Shafir (1992), 'Choice under conflict: The dynamics of deferred decision'. *Psychological Science* 3(6), 358–361.

- Van Herpen, E. and R. Pieters (2002), 'The variety of an assortment: An extension to the attribute-based approach'. *Marketing Science* **21**(Summer), 331–341.
- Van Herpen, E. and R. Pieters (2007), 'Anticipated identification costs: Improving assortment evaluation by diagnostic attributes'. International Journal of Research in Marketing 24(March), 77–88.
- van Ryzin, G. and S. Mahajan (1999), 'On the relationship between inventory costs and variety benefits in retail assortments'. *Management Science* 45(November), 1496–1509.
- van Trijp, H. C. M., W. D. Hoyer, and J. J. Inman (1996), 'Why switch? Product category-level explanations for true varietyseeking behavior'. *Journal of Marketing Research* **33**(August), 281–292.
- Walsh, J. W. (1995), 'Flexibility in consumer purchasing for uncertain future tastes'. *Marketing Science* 14(2), 148–165.
- Wansink, B., R. J. Kent, and S. J. Hoch (1998), 'An anchoring and adjustment model of purchase quantity decisions'. *Journal of Marketing Research* 35(February), 71–81.
- Wright, P. (1974), 'The harassed decision maker: Time pressures, distractions, and the use of evidence'. Journal of Applied Psychology 59(October), 555–561.
- Wright, P. (1975), 'Consumer choice strategies: Simplifying vs. optimizing'. Journal of Marketing Research 12(February), 60–67.
- Wright, P. and F. Barbour (1975), 'The relevance of decision process models in structuring persuasive messages'. *Communication Research* 2(3), 246–259.
- Young, M. E. and E. A. Wasserman (2001), 'Entropy and variability discrimination'. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition 27(January), 278–293.